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IRTRODUCTION

This Site Location Study of the "Black Maria," Building No. 13,
H-20, Edison National Historic Site, discusses the reasons for the
construction of the first original motion picture studio, its physi-
cal description, its loeation, the bullding of a replica, and final-
ly a propbsition for a new location for this replica. The writer
is grateful to Superintendent Melvin J. Welg, Supervisory Museum
Curator Norman R. Speiden, Museuerurator Harold S. Anderson and
Archivist Mrs. Kathleen L. McGuirk of the Edison National Historic
Site, for their fine advice and suggestions in preparing this study.

It has been said that the book is the source of knowledge;
however, knowledge can also be gathered through experience, as is
demonstrated by the example of Thomas A. Edison, whose vision
brought him to the construction of the "Black Maris." 'Where there
is no vision, the people perish," states the Book of Proverbs (29:18).
This i1deas surely applied to the era of Thomes A. Edison, who built
his mot}on picture studio in 1893, as it applies now to our own age,
with its moon'shots , social upheavals and unprecedented opportunities.
We should think, pray and work in terms of the "whqle world" instead
of our own back yard. Mankind will then benefit now as it has from

the inventions of Thomas A. Edison.
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I. EVENTS LEADING TO THE CONSTRUCTION OF THE "BLACK MARTA"

It 1svgenerally recognized that Thomas A. Edison end his
assoclates were the first to adapt the motion picture to practical
dae, when the invention of the photograph by Edison in 1877 led
him on to invent the motion picture camera.

The invention of the phonograph pleased Edison so much that
he became interested in adding pictures to the recorded sound.

It was in 1887 that the idea occurred to Mr. Edison for joining

the phonograph with an animated picture device. Knowing that

his assistant, W.K. Laurie Diékson, had & special interest in \
photography, Mr. Edison disclosed his scheme to Dickson.l This was
during the time when Mr. Edison was erecting his laboratory in West
Orange, New Jersey.

In 1887 Edison set Dickson at the task of making motion pictures
on what was almost a phonograph cylinder. The appearance of this
apparatus has been described in the following terms: "A little drum
was coated with photographic emulsion and was put to recording mofion

under a tiny camera Just as the phonographic cylinder coated with

1. W.K. Laurie Dickson, "A Brief History of the Kinetograph, the
Kinetoscope and the Kineto-Phonograph,"” Journal of the Society of
Motion Picture Engineers, Vol. 21, No. 6 ZDecember, 19335, P, E37. A
letter in Mr. Edison's own handwriting describing his scheme was re-
produced in an article written by A. and W.K.L. Dickson, "Edison's In-
vention of the Kineto-Phonograph," The Century Illustrated Monthl
Megazine, Vol. 48, No. 2 (June, 1894), p. 206. The letter also appear-

ed in W.K.L. Dickson and Antonia Dickson, History of the Kinetograph,
and Kineto-Phonograph. (New York: Albert Bummn, 1895), P. 3.







wax records sound under a diaphragm- controlled needle."2

| Shortly aftervard Dickson found that, im order to register pic-
tures on the emulsion, the cylinder had to be stopped intermittently.
"In time E&ison and Dickson contrived to get a cylinder picture-re-
cording camere that did start and stop forty-eight times a second.
The 1ittle pictures on the cylinders were nardly as large as the end
of a dance program lead pencil. They were photographed in spirals
around the cylinder, just like the spiral sound wave records of the
phonog::-a.ph."‘3 |

This little motion picture camers, which became the ancestor of

all motion picture machines, had many drawbacks, of which perhaps -
‘the most 11i:porta.nt va; that & reel could not be reversed, and this
fact led Edison to discard it; ‘The situation changed in 1889 vhen
George Eastman sold Edison some of his very first photographic film.
FEdison, Dickson and thelir assoclates immediately resumed thelr work
on the synchronization of the Edison phonogﬁph and kinetograph.u
During this time Edison on August 3, 1889, left New York on the

steamer 1a Champagne for the Paris Exposition and other places in

2, Terry Ramsaye, A Million and One Nights. A History of the Motion
Picture. (New York: Simon and Schuster, 190%), Pp. 55.

3. Ibid., p. 56.

4, The word kinetograph or more correctly kinematograh is derived
from the Greek kinema, meaning motion, and grapho, meaning to write
or ’describe. '






Europe, returning on Sunday morning, October 6, 1889.7 During the
"absence of Mr. Edison his principal assistant, Charles Batchelor,
was left in charge of the Edison laboratory. It was during this
time that Dickson persuaded Mr. Batchelor to erect a special photo-
graphic bullding, which was completed 1n September of 1889 at a cost
of $516.6h.6 It was also during the absence of Mr. Edison that the
Edison mation picture camera, called then the kinetograph, was per-
fected and shown to Mr. Edison by Dickson on Sunday morning, October
6, 1889, upon Mr. Edison's return from Europe. With this new camera
there was connected a device called the kinetoscope, with which to
watch the film.7
The history of the beginning of the motion picture has been given
by Mr. Edison himself. In descriﬁing what was to be the first motion
picture studio in the world, Mr. Edison also described the circum-
stances which led to its erectiom. According to him, "It was in 1890
that we decided that we were far enough advanced in our plan for the

development of animated photography to warrant a special building for

our work, but it was such an ungainly looking structure when it

5. For the dates re Mr. Edison's departure for and return from
Parlis see the legal testimony of Mr. Normen C. Raff in the United
States Circuit Court, Southern District of New York, Thomas A.
Edison vs. American Mutoscope Company and Benjamin F. Keith. In
Equity No. 6928 on Letters Patent No. 589, 100, Complainant's Record.
(New York: C.G. Burgoyne, n.d. ), p. 194. Hereinafter cited as
Complainant's Record.

6. Remsaye, op. cit., p. 65.

7. Dickson, "A Brief History of the Kinetograph, the Kinetoscope,
and the Kineto-Phonograph,” pp. W47-450.
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was done, and the boys had so much sport with it, that we called it
"The Black Maria'“8 )

By this time the photographlc building erected in September of
1889 had become quite inadequate for the realization of Edisou's
plan. Dickson, with his sister Antonia, in a pamphlet published in
1895,.explained the circumstances which brought about the construction
of the "Black Maria" as follows: "The exigencies of natural lighting,
however, incident to the better ‘taking' of the subjects and the lack
of a suitable theatrical stage, necessitéted the construction of a
special building, which stands in the centre of that cluster of

auxiliary houses which forms the suburbs of the laboratory, and which

of the most superficial observer."d

8. Thomas A. Edison, The Diary and Sundry Observations of Thomas
Alva Edison. Edited by Dagobert D. Runes. (New York: Philosophical
Iibrary, 1948), pp. 68-69.

9. W.K.L. Dickson and Antonia Dickson, History of the Kinetogragg,
Kinetoscope, and Kineto-Phonograph, p. 19.







II. BUILDING THE "BLACK MARIA"
According to architeet Hozman M. Souder the "Black Maria" wes

;'designed by Edison."l There is no actual proof that Edison indeed
designed this first motion picture studio. As of now no drawings or
notebooks related to the building of the "Black Maria" have .been
found. Who then designed the "Black Maria"? According to Dickson

1t was he who designed this first motion picturve studio in 1891.2

This is probably & correct statement, but we do not know to what extent
Edison himself may have contributed to the design of the "Black Maria."”
We should remember that this first motion picture stud.io3 was built
when Edison was at the Laboratory, back from'his Europesn trip. As it
was the habit of Mr. Edison to keep a close observance of everything

that was happening at the Laboratory, it 1s perhaps fair to state that

1. Norman M. Souder, "Historic Structures Report, Part I: Archi-
tectural Data Section on 'Black Maria' Edison Hational Historic Site."”
(Philadelphia, Pa.: U.S. Department of the Interior, National Park
Service, Eastern Office, Design and Construction, Division of Architec-
ture, August 1964), p. i.

2. Dickson, "A Brief History of the Kimetograph, the Kinetoscope
and the Kineto-Fhonograph,” p. 453. ,

3. Gordon Hendricks in his book The Kinetosco America's First
Commercially Successful Motion Picture Exhibitor. !Brooklyn, N. Y.:
Theodore Gaus' Sons, Incorporated, 1966), on pege 21 tries to prove
that the "Black Maria" was not actually the first motion picture studio,
but rather that the first motion picture studio was the photographic
building erected in September 1889. This premise is of course not
true. Neither Edison nor Dickson refer to the photographic building as
a "Motion picture studio.” Dickson, in his article "A Brief History of
the Kinetograph, the Kinetoscope, and the Kineto-Phonograph,” page 449,
-and also in the pamphlet which he wrote together with his sister Antonia
entitled History of the Kinetograph, Kinetoscope, and Kineto-Fhonograph,
page T, clearly states that the photographic building erected in September
of 1889 was the "photographic studio" and not the first "motion picture
studio.”







the design of the "Black Maria" as well as its construction was done
with Mr. Edison's participstion and supervision.

Preparations for the building of this first motion picture studio
were started most probably during the latter part of the sumer of
1892. The studio at first was not known as the "Black Maria," but as
the "Revolving Pnotograph Building." |

In the meantime, experiments on the motion picture had continued
at the Edison Laboratory. A record shows that for the "Kinetoscope
Experiment" during the month of October 1892, $311.41 was spent,
vhile for November of the same year $526.83 was spent, giving a total
for those two months of $838.2l+.1‘

A record for December 10, 1892, shows that Newark lumber dealers

Svain and Jones delivered to the Edison Laboreatory a large quantity

of lumber, whose diversity might indicate that it may have been used

for the construction of the studio. It consisted of the folloving:s
6 - L1/2x 6" 20 ft. Hemlock $16.
1- 11/2x 6" 2" - " 15.
b - 6 x 12 28 Spruce 22.25
1l = ] 26 " n 22.25
1 - " 22 " " 22.25
1l-10 x 12 22" Yellow Pine .03/h
l1- 2 x 10 12" Hemlock 15.
7 - " lh " L 15.
2 - " 8" " 16.

4. ILsbor end Material Sub-ledger No. 6, June 1890 to July 1896,
p. b4, Edison Fational Historic Site, West Orange, New Jersey.

5. Receiving Book No. 5, Janpary 1, 1892 to December 31, 1892,
p. 181, Edison National Historic Site, West Orange, New Jersey.







2 - " 20 " " 16.

2- 6 x 6 8" Spruce 22.25
9-3 x bk " " 20.25
5 - " 12" " 20.25

Two days later, on December 12, 1892, the same lumber dealers
delivered a second shipment of lumber which consisted of "N. C. Pine
Flooring," "Hemlock" and "Flaned Pine" valued at $83.6 On December 27,
1892, the lumber firm of Burton and Conover, of Orange, N. J.,
delivered 20 pieces of 2" x 8" x 1l foot spruce valued at $20.25,7
and on December 30, 1892, the same firm delivered 215 feet of
shelving and 100 feet of 1" pine, dressed.b |

On the account sheet for 1892 the "Black Maria" was referred to
as the "Revolving Photograph Building” with a cost of $637.67.9 At
'r;hat time the bookkeeper for the Thomas A. Edison Laboratory was
John F. Randolph. His testimony of February 3, 1900, en accounts
pertaining to the expenses of the "revolving photograph building,"

confirms the sume of $637.67.1°

6. Ibid., p. 182.
70 mid-, P. ’188.
8. Ibid., p. 190.

9. See Appendix A.

10. See Complainant's Record, Pp. 161.






According to the testimony of Mr. Randolph the revoiving
'photograph building was started in December of 1892 and completed
on February 1, 1893.ll These are probably the correct dates, al-
though Dickson in his article written in 1933 at the request of the
Sodiety'of Motion Picture Engineers states that the building was
completed in February 1892.12 Dickson's date then would appear to
be off one year, as the date of February of 1892 given in his article

contradicts the account book. Even though the Journal of the Society

of the Motion Picture Engineers had accepted the date of February 1,

1893, as the date of completion of the revolving photograph building,
this magazine nevertheless included in Dickson's article the evidently
erroneous date, because Dickson insisted on this point.l3
It is impossible to ascertain who first nicknamed the “revolving
'photograph building" the "Black Maria." Dickson refers to this "studio

revolving on wheels to meet the sun at all hours, which some wag later

dubbed the 'Black Maria.'"lu The earliest known written use of the name

11. Ibid., p. 16kL.

12. Dickson, "A Brief History of the Kinetograph, the Kinetoscope,
and the Kineto-Phonograph," p. U53.

13. Regarding the confusion over the date of completion of the
studio called the "Black Maria," there exists correspondence between
Dickson and the editors of the Journal of the Society of Motion Picture
Engineers in which the later call his attention to the one-year differ-
ence in date. See Dickson Correspondence, 1931-1835, File E5801, Edison
National Historic Site, West Orange, New Jersey.

14. Dickson, "A Brief History of the Kinetograph, the Kinetoscope,
and the Kineto-Phonograph," p. 453.
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"Black Maria" referring to this studio is shown on an invoice dated
April 27, 1893,.from the New York Roofing Co., Newark, New Jersey,
~charging to Mr. Edison $9.96 for "roofing 'Black Maria' at Laboratory,
Orange, N.J."1?

The origin of the term "Black Maria" is uncertain. It has been
used widely here and abroad. A dictionary defines a "Black Maria"
as "A closed vehicle in which prisoners are conveyed to and from

prison."l6 The Boston Daily Evening Traveller, September 25, 1847,

mentions "A new Black Maria, . . . a new waegon for the conveyance

of prisoners to and from the courts of Justice."l7 An unknown
Englishman, commemorating his time spent in jail, described in 1877
the Black Maria as follows: "We were then all marched down the

gloomy stone passages to the yard, where our carriages awaited us.
These were the usual black Marias, some four or five of which were
dravﬁ up in the prison yard. The one I was in was different from any
othér I had travelled in before. By standing up I could, through the
top ventilating grating, Just catch a glimpse of the streets we passed

through."l8

15. See Appendix B.

16. A Dictionary of Americanisms on Historical Principles. Edited
by Mitford M. Mathews. Vol. I: A-Lincolniem. (Chicago: The University
of Chicago Press, 1951), p. 125.

17. Dailly Evegigg_g;aveller, September 25, 1847, p. 2.

' 18. Five Years' Penal Servitude By One Who Hus Endured Tt. -(London:
Richard Bentley & oon, 1877), p. ©0.







(‘________—___——_______________—_—_*~_"f_________—_____—f____"'_—____—"——————————————

An anonymous reader on April 21, 1883, realizing thaﬁ the
'Black Maria vas "a popular name in Iondon for a police van,"
wanted to know what the origin of the term was. 19 Julian Marshall,
in his reply to this inquiry dated May 5, 1883, suggested that
the term Maria may be derived from "marinated” or "transported.”
He also pointed out that "The colour (black) explains itself,
from the dark hue of the vehicle."20

Mrs. Elizabeth B. Custer, widow of General Custer, describing
Army life on the western frontier, expecially with Cuéter and the
7th Cavalry in the Washita campaign, 1868-69, wrote in 1890: 'our
escort . . . hurried us out of what seemed like a 'Black Maria,’' it
was 80 dismal in the carriage, and we were taken into the Btation."al

Answers, a London weekly Journal of illustration, literature and
interesting facts for February 9, 1889, stated: "There are two kinds
of Black Marias. One is called the night van and the other the day. |

The passengers politely term them ‘meils.' The day van holds

19. See Notes and Queries: A Medium of Intercommunication for
Eiterg.%guen, General Readers, etc. Sixth Series. Vol. Tth ZJanuary-
June, 3), p- 309.

20. 1Ibid., p. 355.

21. Elizabeth B. Custer, Following the Guidon. (New York: Harper
& Brothers, 1890), p. 160.
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eighteen passengers, not inciuding the driver and warden, and the
‘ night van a dozen. The vans are divided into two halves, and on
each side are small compartments gbout two feet square with a seat
and door, which is carefully locked."22
Louis Armstrong in his autobiography recalls that "New Orlgans
had fine big horses to pull the patrol wagons and the Black Maria."23
Tn addition to referring to a "paddy wagon," "Black Maria" was
a term used during the First World War for a large high-explosive
shell. The Gemmans, for example used the term "Schwarze Maria'
during the First World War for the American heavy shells.zh
Tt is evident then, that the term "Black Maris" was rather widely
used. It had primarily'a sinister connotation, meaning something
blind, dark, without windows, prison-like. It seems that the appliga-

tion of the term "Black Maria" to the "Revolving Photograph Building"

22, Quoted in Dictiona of Sl & Its Analogues Past & Present. A
Dictionary, Historical and Comparative, of the Heterodox Speech of all
Classes of Society for More Than Three Hundred Years with Synonyms in
English, French, German, Italian, etc. Compiled and Edited by John S.
Fermer & W.E. Henley. Vol. I. Revised Edition. Introductions by lee
Reveni & G. Legman. (New Hyde Park, N.Y.: University Books, 1966),

p. 24T,

23. Louis Armstrong, Satchmo; My Life in New Orleans. (New York:
Prentice-Hall 1954), p. 12.

oly, Eric Partridge, A Dictionary of Slang and Unconventional English

Colloguialisms and Catch-phrases, Solecisms and Catachreses, Nicknames,

Vulgarisms and such Americansisms as have been naturalized. Two Volumes

~ In One. (New York: The Macmillan Company, 19315, Pe 60.



>must have developed primarily as a result of the unusual structure of
this building. It should be remembered that the building wes not in=-
tended to be imposing; its appearance was sécondary to its practical
functions as the first motion picture studio. Edison himself admitted
that "it was such_an ungainly looking structure when it was done, and
the boys had so much sport with it, that we called it 'The Black
Maria.'"25 It seems obvious then that the term "Black Maria" was ap-
plied to this somewhat amazing looking structure as a joke, perhaps
mostly because it was dark and its éppearnace reminded observers of a
prison van or police patrol wagon and also of a mysterious place, which

this first motion picture studio certainly must have seemed.

25, Edison, op. cit., pp. 68-69.

12



III. EVOLUTION OF THE "BLACK MARTA"

Although there are many articles describing the "Black Maria" in
various magazines of the period when the studio wés in use, these
articles do not give details as to its dimensions or location.

A caréful analysis of two of the three known photographs of the
outside of the buillding has ylelded, by reverse perspective, a faifly
| adequate estimate of its size and proportions, while the third and
earliest photograph has shown its position with relation to the Main
Building of the Laboratory Group.

Thése photographs, arranged in date order, will be referred to as
Photograph No. 1, Photograph No. 2, and Photograph No. 3.’
Photograph No. 1 was taken most probably by W.K.L. Dickson between

February 1, 1893, when the building was considered finished, and the

winter of 1893-9l+.l A sketch made from this photograph by E.J. Meeker

was published in an article by Antonia and W.K.L. Dickson, entitled
"Edison's Invention of the Kineto-Phonograph" which appeared in the

June 1894 issue of The Century Illustrated Monthly Magazine.2 Another

sketch from this photograph of the "Black Maria," done by Richard F.

1. See Appendix C.

5. Antonia and W.K.L. Dickson, "Edison's Invention of the Kineto-
Phonograph.” The Century Illustrated Monthly Magazine, Vol. 48, No.
2 (June 1894), p. 21k.

13



Outcault, appeared in The Electrical World of June 16, 1894 .3
Photograph No. 2 was taken most probably by W.K.L. Dickson

during the winter of 1894-95, as it appeared in 1895 on page 5

of History of the Kinetograph, Kinetoscope, and Kineto-Fhonograph,
L4

by W.K.L. Dickson and his sister Antonia Dickson.

Photograph No. 3 was taken by William L. Jamison in the sum-
mer of 1903.° This date was furnished by Mrs. William L. Jamison
from a print in her possession.6

A comparison of the three photographs shows that, while the
overall dimensions of the "Black Maria" remained the same, several
important alterations Yere made on this(structure during the ten
years of its existence. ‘

Photograph No. 1 shows only one narrow entrance door. The
hinged roof door, when closed, overlapped the peak of the roof,
while the supports for the floor, when opened vere about 4 feet

from the end of the.building. The stovepipe chimney has

3. "The Kineto-FPhonograph," The Electrical World, Vol. 23 No. 24
(June 16, 1894), p. 800.

k. See Appendix D.
5. See Appendix E.
6. Oral statement of Supervisory Museum Curator Normsin R. Speiden

to the author. Mr. Speiden stated that he received this information
from Mrs: William L. Jamison.

1k



been removed, leaving a hole. The electric wires entered the building
Sbout 2.7 feet to the right'of the chimney hole and dboutdi;h Teet
higher than the hole. o

Photograph No. 2 shows the 14 foot roof door open and resting
against.its supports, which have been moved to the end of the
building. The hinge of the door has been moved about L feet to the
right, and as the door no longer reaches the peak of the roof, about
two feet of roof must have been added. This section of the roof fol-
lows the original slope, as will be seen by the added timber which
shows just back of the two men standing against the far wall of the
opening. A new entrance door and steps have been added just under
the hinge of the open roof. A new door about 6.3 feet wide has re-
placed the small door shown in Photograph No. 1. This new door is
in a "bay" which widens the building by about 10 feet parallel to
the 6r1ginal wall. A similar large door and widening of the building
on the opposite wall is indicated in one §f the interior sketches.

In Photograph No. 3 the principal change shown is the cutting of
the roof ridge down to the top edge of the original roof door and
the installation of another hinged door on the opposite slope of the
roof, so that when closed this roof door overlaps the original roof
door. A skylight has been 1nstalied in the center of the original

roof door. This is the only one of the photographs that shows the

15



‘stovepipe chimney. As the 1ea§es on the trees show that it was
summer we ﬁay assume that the peculiar angle éf the pipe is due
to the removal of the stove and the rusting out of the horizontal
section of the pipe. Another small eptrance door has been instal-

led in the left side of the building.

16



IV. PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION OF THE "BLACK MARIA"

A. EXTERIOR

The "Black Maria" ves then a tar-papered skylighted studio built
on the grounds of the Edison lsboratory in West Orange, N. J., vhere
Edison 'engéged in film production. Dickson with his sister Antonia
described this new studio as follows:

It obeys no architectural rules, it embraces no con-
vential materials and follows Ro accepted scheme of
color. Its shape, if anything so eccentric can be
entitled to that eppellation, is an irregular oblong,
rising abruptly in the centre, at which point & moveble
roof is attached, vhich is easily raised or lowered at
the will of & single manipulator. Its color is a grim
and forbidding black, enlivened by the dull lustre of
myriads of metallic points; its materials are paper,
covered with pitch and profusely studded with tin
pails. With its great flapping sail-like roof and
ebon complexion, it has a weird and semi-nautical
appearance, like the unvieldy hulk of & medieval
pirate-craft or the air-ship of some swart Afrite,

and the uncanny effect is not lessened, when, at an
imperceptible signal, the great building swings slowly
around upon a graphited ceatre, presenting any given
angle to the rays of the sun and rendering the appa-
ratus independent of diurnsl variations. The movable
principle of this building is identical with that of
our river swinging bridges, the ends being suspended
by iron rods from raised centre-posts. This remarkable
structure is known as the Kinetographic Theatre, or the
"Black Maria," according to the mental cast of ite
sponsors. Entering, we are confronted by a system of
lights and shades 8o sharply differentiated as to pain
the eye, accustomed to the uniform radiance of the
outer air.l '

: 1. W. K. L. Dickson and Antonia Dickson, History of the
Kinetograph, Kinetoscope, and Kineto-FPhotograph, pP- 19-20.

17



According to Mr. Edison, "Our studio was. almost as amaziné
-as the pictures we made in it. We were looking for service, not
art. The building itself was about twenty-five by thirty feet
in dimensions, and we gave a grotesque effect to the roof by
slanting it up in a hunch in the centér and arranging shutters
that could be opened or closed with a pulley to obtain the greatest
benefit frem the light."2

The appearance of the "Black Maria" was so strange that
Edison himself admitted,

'The Black Maria' always reminded me of an Irishman
who used to work for me in my early days when we
were trying out a certain variation of the railroad
telegraph system; that is, sending a message from
an ordinary wire to and from a moving train. We

were working with our apparatus down on Staten Island
at the time, and my Irish friend - his name was

King - was in charge of the crew on the line.

He was a good electrician, too, but for some reason
he had difficulty in making the system operate as it
should. Strange to say, it worked like a charm when
the train was running in one direction, but as soon
as it started on its return trip troubles began.
Although King would swear and tear his hair he
couldn't fathom the source of the disturbance.

Finally, in disgust, he wrote me that the only solu-
tion he could think of was for me to run an axle under
Staten Island so the island could be turned instead

of the train! This was & good deal the same kind of
problem we had with our old 'Black Marie'. But we
couldn't very well control the sun. So we had to
compromise, and fix up a contrivance to turn the studio.3

2. Edison, op. cit., p. 69.

3. Ibid., pp. 69-TO.
18



There seems to be a discrepancy regarding the dimensions of
‘the "Black Maris". In addition to the above statement of Mr. Edison
that the building was "ebout twenty-five by thirty feet in dimen-

sions,”" there are other measurements available vwhich contradict Mr.

Edison's statement. According to The Orange Chronicle of Marech 10,
1894, the dimensions of the building were 50' x 13',&‘ The New York

Morning Journal of September 8, 1894, reported that the building was

"about 30 feet long, 12 feet wide, 8 feet high and tar paper does the
service of the brick walls."?. According to the New York World of
September 8, 1894, the building was 15 feet w:l.de.6 Hendricks on
the other hand is convinced that "The Black Maria was pregumably
48' x 10' -1h' x 18" overa.l.'l.."7

The "Black Maria" was balanced on a pivot which allowed it to be
turned to follow the sun. We do not have any details on the pivot

except that it was circular. leslie's Illustrated Weekly of July 19,

1_89k, described the studio as being "fixed on a monster centre pivot

and moved on heavy rollers, so that the glass front is always in line

8

with the direet rays of the sun."” Also we are told that the

L. The Orange Chronicle, March 10, 1894, p. 5.

5. New York Morning Journal, September 8, 1894, p. 1.

6. The World, September 8, 1894, p. T.
7. Hendricks, op. cit., p. 26.

hg' leslie's Illustrated Weekly, Vol. 79, No. 2027 (July 19, 1894 ),
p. -
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pivot, over which the "Black Maria" swung suspended on a central
verticle axis, was of g:aphite.9 The rollers which are shown in

a sketch by E.J. Meeker in The Century Illustrated Monthly Maga-

zine gave considerable support to the end weight of the building.lo

A reporter from the New York Sun, who covered the fight between
James J. Corbett and Peter Courtney which took blace in the "Black
Maria" on Friday morning, September 7, 189ﬁ, observed that the
studio "reminded everybody of a huge coffin. It was covered with
black tar paper, secured to the woodwork by big metal-topped nails,
and was the most dismal-looking affair the sports had ever seen."1l
While the structural changes previously described are shown of
the three available photographslz (which show only the front of the
"Black Maria"), we know nothing of how the back side of this studio

appeared, since no photographs or sketches have so far been found

which depict the building from the rear.

9. Antonia and W.K.L. Dickson, "Edison's Invention of the Kineto-
phonograph,” The Century Illustrated Monthly Magezine, Vol. 48, No. 2
(June 1894), p. 2i2.

10. Ibid., p. 21k.
11. The Sun, September 8, 1894, p. 2.

12. See Supra, pp. 13-16.
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B. INTERIOR

In addition to knowing nothing about the back of the "Black
Maria," we also know nothing about its ‘interior, except for a few
sketches. One thing is certaim, that the interior of the "Black
Marie" was painted black. Edison in his Diary states that they
"painted it a dead black inside"13 and the New York Sun pointed
out that "Inside the walls were peinted black."

Two prize fights took place in the "Black Maria" in 189k
which have given us some information on its interior. The first
fight took place on Thursday morning, June 1%, 1894, between
Mike Leonard and Jack Cuahing.ls According to the New York World
"¢ was a very strange and unusual fight. The ring, only 12 feet
- square, was arranged in Ediszom's i_.abora.tory."l6 Similarly

the Nev York Morning Journal stated that "Both men entered the

12-foot ring at 130 pounds."l7 A second fight in the interest of
science took place in the "Black Maria" between the Cheumpion,

James J. Corbett, and Peter Courtney on Friday morning, September T,

1894, in which Corbett kmocked out Courtnmey. A purse of

13. Edison, op. eit., p. 69.

14. ‘Phe Sun, September 8, 1894, p. 2.
15. Ibid., June 16, 1894, p. 7.

16. ‘Fhe World, June 16, 189k, p. 1.

17. New York Morning Journal, June 16, 189k, p. k.
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$5,000 was involved of which the loser received $250. The
walls of the shooting space were padded for this fight.

According to the New York Herald, "In consequence of the

limited room only a 1li-foot ring could be prepared, and the
two sides of this next the walls were heavily padded to pre-
vent injury to the fighters."l8 The New York World in its
comment on the Corbett-Courtney fight reported that "The
building is only fifteen feet wide, and its sides, heavily

padded up to a height of six feet, made the use of ropes un-

necessary except in the front and back of the improvised arenaa"l9

Commenting on the Corbett-Courtney fight, the New York Sun
also revealed some particulars on the interior of the "Black
Maria," stating:

Inside the walls were painted black, and there
wasn't a window of any description, barring a
little slide which was directly beside the
kinetograph and could be opened or closed at the
will of the operator. Half of the roof, however,
could be raised or lowered like a drawbridge by
means of ropes, pulleys, and weights, so that the
sunlight could strike squarely on the space before
the machine.*

18. The New York Herald, September 8, 1894, p. 11l.

19. The World, September 8, 1894, p. T.

20. The Sun, September 8, 1894, p. 2.
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There is no doubt that the "little slide” would be the ruby
glass windbw which looked into the darkroom used for reloading
- the camera and for removing the exposed‘ﬁ.lm. The New York
Morning Journal of September 8, 1894, described the darkroom
as "a dark closet in the rear of the building, vhere the kin-
etoscope lens and other paraphernalla are- -stationed." It fﬁrther
sta.ted that "The photographing machine works on rollers, a.nd can
be adjusted to suit the operator.“al -

The studio was so arranged then that part of the roof
could be opened to admit sunlight to the stege, which could
revolve on its track to> follow the sun. An interesting fact
is that both of the fights, betveen Mike Leonard and Jack
Cushing and between James J. Corbett and Peter Courtney, took
place in the "Black Maria" shortly after 1l a.m. in the full
glare of the bright sunlight.

The "Black Maria" was covered emtirely with black tar paper,

thus "giving the effect of a dead black tunnel behind the subject

21. New York Morning Journal, September 8, 1894, p. 1.
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to be _'phcrt.ogra;phed.."\22 The darkroom wasl“lined with heavy
black'felt."23 The camera in the'"Black Maria" was moﬁnted
on & table which ran on a track, ensbling it to be moved,
when necessary, toward the stage for close-ups. This fact
is evident from the sketch of the interior of the Kineto-

graphic Theatre by Richard F. Outcault.2

Furthermore this
sketch illustrates how the camera was connected electrically
with the motor of the phonograph recording machine, thus
effecting the synchronization of sound with picture.

In addition to these prize fights, the "Black Maria"

‘ becamg an enormously active scence for the meking of other
movies. In order to iilusfiate its importance, there are
1isted below a number of pictures made inside the "Black Maria“
between 1893 and 1895:25

Carmencita, the Spanish Queen of Dancers

Gayety Girls

Buffalo Bill (firing rifle)

22. The Orange Chronicle, March 10, 1894, p. 5.

23. leslie's Illustrated Weekly, Vol. 79, No. 2027 (Jury 19,
1894), p. LS. ]

24. See Appendix F.

25. W.K.L. Dickson and Antonia Dickson, History of the Kineto-
‘graph, Kinetoscope, and Kineto-Fhonograph, p. 17-50.
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Sioux Indian Ghost Dance
Lasso Thrower
Corbett and Courtney (prize fight)
Alcide Capitaine (trapeée act)
Mexican Knife Duel
.Eugene Sandow, the Modern Hercules
Fencers
Boxing Cats
Sheik Hadji Tahar (acrobat)
Walten and Slaviﬁ‘- from "1492"
Japanese Dancers
Opium Den
Row in a Chinese Laundry
Milk White Flag - Hoyt
Subsequently, as.motion-picture making became & highly
competitive industry, Edison's interest in this activity
| declined. Finally the "Black Maria" studio was torn down.

in 1903.
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V. LOCATION OF THE "BIACK}MARIA"

Prior to 1953 it was impossible to determine the original
location of the studio. Mr. Charles Edison thought that the
"Black Maria" was én Lakeside Avenue, just below Building No.
6. According to the testimony of Mr. William A. Hayes, it
was below Building No. 4,1 and the earliest known photograph,
taken during the winter of 1893-94, confirms this testimony.2
The aerial drawing of the Edison Laboratory>and Works of the
National Phonograph Company which appeared in the Edison

Phonograph Monthly in May 1903 shows the "Black Maria" behind

the back line of the four one-story Laboratory buildings.3
The building which apjears to the left of the "Black Maria"
was known as the Cement Building; part of this building is
shown on Photograph No. 3 (Appendix E).u
By projectioh from the earliest known photograph (Appendix

C), Supervisory Museum Curator Normen R. Speiden was able in

1. Norman R. Speiden, "Historiec Stuctures Report, Part I:
Black Maria, Building No. 13 'Historical Data.'" (West Orange,
N. J.: Edison National Historic Site, November 30, 1966), p. 8.

2. See Appendix C.

3. See Appendix G.

4, See.Supra, pp. 14-16.

%6



December of 196k to prepare a drawing showing the location of '

the original "Black Maria," vhich was below the four one-story

Laboratory buildings.’

5. Speiden, op. cit., pp. 8-9. B8ee also Appendix H.

27



VI. RECONSTRUCTION OF THE "BIACK MARIA"

Since the time when the original "Black Maria" was torn down
in 1903, numerous attempts have been made to build small models of
.this first motion picture studio. One such model, although not
historically authentic, was built on May 15, 1940, at the Edison
laboratory for the premiére of the Metro-Goldwyn-Mayer movie
"Edison the Man" with Spencer Tracy in the title role. Despite the
fact that the structure cost around three thousand dollars, its roof
could noﬁ be opened and the model studio could not be turned to
follow the sun. Shortly afterwvard this model was taken down.

It was the opinion of the jnventor's son, Mr. Charles Edison,
that any future reconstruction of the "Black Maria" should be as
authentic as possible. It should be remembered that in the early
1950s only two photographs of the "Black Maria" were known to be
in existence, those reproduced herein as Appendices D and E. It
was on the basis Qf these two photographs that Mr. Norman R. Speiden
prepared three drawings on September 29, 1952, showing the side
elevation, the end elevétion, and the floof plan of the "Black Maria."
Subsequentl&, on the basis of these three drawings, the Néwark
" architectursl firm of Frank Grad and Sons made the structural plans
and specifications for the present replica. The construction of

. the replica was done by August Remsland and on September 22, 1954,
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this newly reconstructed "Black Maris" was officially dedicated.l
The replica was built entirely on the basis of the Dickson and
Jamison photographs as shown in Appendices D and E. The reconstruc-
ted "Black Maria" is approximately 49 feet long, 18 feet wide at the
wide part, and 9 feet wide at the narrow part, where the camera is
located. The height from the bottom part of the floor joist to the
peak of the floor is 21 feet.2 The interior of the reconstructed
"Black Maria" has received certain additions which have improved not
only its internal appearance but also adjusted it to present-day
conditions. Instead of the hardwood floor resting on the central
pivot, a steel framework has been added to the floor, which not only
helps to support the weight of the Building but also assures it longer
preservation. There have also been added several electric strip--
heatefs to replace the original coal or wood-burning stove. All
these features added to the cost of the "Black Maria," which was
paid by the Thomas Alve Edison Foundation. Although Qe do not ‘
have the total cost for the erectién of this present "Black Maria,"

Mr. Ramsland has stated that his contract amounted to $25,000.3

1. Speiden, op. cit., pp. 5-7. For the depiction of this
present reconstruction of the "Black Maria," See Appendix I.

2. These specifications are taken from Speiden, op. cit.,
Appendix IV, Photograph Nos. 6, 7 and 8.

3. Ibid., p. 7.
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VII. PROPOSED NEW LOCATION FOR THE "BIACK MARIA"

ThevﬁBlack Maria" is presently about 413 feet to the north
of its original locgtion. It cannot be moved to the original
spot becasue the land would not be availsble. The original spot
on which the "Black Maria" stood is still on the Company's land;
consequently the feasibility of relocating it there is a question.
Perhaps eventually the "Black Maria" could be moved to Bullding
No. 4. The Master Plan for the Edison National Historic Site
shows where the "Black Maria" is to be moved. The proposed new
location of the "Black Maria,"ABuilding No. 13, when scaled from
the drawing in the Mastér Plan, indicates that the center of the
turntable would be sbout 45 feet back of the east corner of
Building No. 4, and 8 feet southeast of the line of the southeast
wall of the building. This position was plotted by Supervisory
Museum Curator Speiden on a large drawing showing the location
of the original "Black Maria." The scaling on this drawing gives
the distance between the proposed new_location of Building No. 13

and the 1893 position of the original "Black Maria" as 160 feet.l

1. See Appendix H.
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VIII. RECOMMENDATIONS

One'méy have real doubt as to whether the reconstruction of
the "Black Maria" really served tis purpose. First of all it is
not authentic. The replica 1s based entirely on the picture
taken by Dickson during the winter of 1894-95 (Appendix D) and
the photograph taken by Jamison in the summer of 1903 (Appendix E).
A new source of information was brought forth in January of 1954
with the discovery of a new photograph taken during the winter of
1893-9&, vhich is shown as Appendix C. This presently earliest
known photograph was not taken into consideration because at the
time of its discovery the present replica of the "Black Maria" vas
well on the way to its completion. As mentioned above, we know
very little about the interior of the fBlack Maria," and nothing
at a;l.of how this'first motion picture studio 1ooked from the
back.

Secondly, the "Black Maria" is very difficult to maintain,
as the Work and Purchase Orders will indicate. In 1966 the
rehabilitation of the "Black Maria" involved the following:
removal of exterior trim and tarpaper from the exterior walls;
replacement of rooted framing and sheathing; application of
nev tarpaper to walls; making and installation of new window
framgs; repairs to the exterior trim; replacement of fabric
" around the movie screen; installation of a new fan bgtween the

main and projection rooms; rebuilding of stairs and building of
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a portable ramp for safer visitor exit; and painting nev and old
work aé required. The cost of this rehabilitation, including
personal services, supplies and meterials, amounted to $3,000.l
The interior and exterior painting of the "Black Maria" on
June 13, 1968, cost $250.2 Emergency work to repalr a leak in
the "Black Maria" was undertaken on June 19, 1968. This work
consisted of renewal of the tar paper on the upper portion of
the east gable, for which the amount paid was $160.3

Despite' these constant and expensive repairs the "Black
Maria" is a good public relations vehicle. It attracts public
~attention, and people, particularly children, want to see it.
The present "Black Maria” haﬁ a seating capacity of about TO
and a standing capacity of about 90 people.. It functions only
during the summer, usually between the middle of May and the
middle of October, depending on the weather, and movies such
as the "Great Train Robbery" and ‘others are shown on a modern
16-um movie projector.

It should be remembered that the "Black Maria" was never

mesnt as a truly historical replica but rather as a tourist

attra¢tion. It was made by the Thomas Alva Edison Foundation

1. See Work Order No. 403-211730, June 27, 1966, in the
Archives of the Edison National Historic Site.

2. See Purchase Order No. 403-TO in Ibid.

3. See Purchase Order Ko. 403-84 in Ibid.
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prior to the Park Service's tenure of the site. It seems to the

‘present writer that the building has indeed served its purpose,

and that when the Visitor's Center is built at the Edison
Netional Historic Site we can then decide 1f we want to spend
money to move it to the proposed new location. However, whether
or not the "Black Maria" is moved from its present 413 feet from
the original location to a position 166 feet away, or even torn
down completely, we should seriously consider the erection of a
diorama, in which, on the basis of the three available photographs
shown in Appendices C, D and E we should show the three known
steges in the development of the "Black Maria,” illustrating the
structural changes and chaﬁges in the building's fabric. It would
be more historical and authentic as well as appealing to visltors.
In this way the visitor to the Edison National Historic Site could
compare the presently reconstructed "Black Maria" with the dlorama
showing the authentic structures, and in this way see the(structural
changes made in this first motion picture studio. This procedure
would be historically’correct and would also indicate that the

Park Service really cares sbout the true historical interpretation

of the Sites. The sophisticated Romans referred to history as

res gestae, which means "things done." Whether or not it is moved
to a new location, we ought to consider the erection of the
propbsed @iorama on the basis of ﬁhe presently available three
photographs. After all there is honor in every work which results

in godd.
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AFPENDIX B

INVOICE SHOWING EARLIEST KNOWN WRITTEN USE OF THE NAME "BLACK MARIA"!

¥
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lu-lldl:g P-por,.Foundry

seings, &e.
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W. W, BCHOULER,8aL1s AQNT,

@, ' ’6’4045 Deres” 2t , | |
Fx 15 LK ﬂ?& /]7Z@/z/ré 45 ;

xS 116 v 2. 2 48 A

) o

A ’ X

lyoucher File, 1893, Voucher No. 259. Edison National Historic Site,
West Orange, New Jersey.
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APPENDIX H
DRAWING PREPARED BY SUPERVISORY MUSEUM CURATOR N.R. SPEIDEN,
SHOWING BY PROJECTION FROM THE EARLIEST KNOWN PHOTOGRAFH

THE LOCATION OF THE ORIGINAL "BLACK MARIA."]'

LOCATION OF THE ORIGINAL
+~ BLACK MARIA

From %hg earliest known photograph

1See Negative No. 6920 in the Archives of the Edison National Historic Site.
b1
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